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Chairman's
Message
Dear respected investors,

In this annual report, we will review for you our most 

important advancements and accomplishments 

for the year 2014, a year where we witnessed 

positive and drastic changes that most significantly 

of all, included the anticipated transition of the 

commercial brand to Ooredoo. As a consequence 

of this transition, we bolstered our reputation 

significantly across the globe, while we continued 

to uphold our high industry values and standards 

under a singular, cohesive commercial brand

God willing, this strategic step will help to embed 

Ooredoo’s presence in Kuwait, as well as enable it 

to achieve its goal of becoming an industry leader. 

The Company continues to meet its objectives 

and refine its services by offering state of the art 

mobile and internet services, in addition to smart 

and competitive promotions that concentrate on 

exceeding its customers’ expectations and satisfying 

their needs.

Ooredoo Kuwait

Our transition to the Ooredoo brand in Kuwait 

had a positive and significant impact in the 

market, especially when our “I Want” introductory 

campaign created huge interest across the country. 

It was imperative for us to undertake several 

procedures that would enable us to create a 

smooth work environment and fulfill our promises. 

This bold venture led to sweeping changes, and 

a restructuring of the Company, offering enhanced 

product portfolios for postpaid, prepaid and 

wireless broadband services. Shamel postpaid 

plans, in particular, earned great popularity, as 

well as the launch of Apple iPhone 6 and iPhone 6 

Plus. This placed Ooredoo in an enviable position 

among our competitors in Kuwait.

Our transition from Wataniya to the Ooredoo 

brand also represented our commitment toward 

realizing our chief commitments. The change was 

a bold step that brought with it an expansive series 

of changes for the better. These included genuine 

services uncompromised in quality and speed, 

as well as customer segmentation programs, IVR 

revamping, customer experience initiatives and 

retail outlet expansion, and other initiatives that aim 

to improve our services at a non-stop rate.

Ooredoo Algeria

In Algeria, 2014 has been a remarkable year of 

growth. The Company registered an impressive 

number of 3G customers across various provinces 

of Algeria in just one year, achieving the title of 

"North African Mobile Operator of the Year 2014" 

among other prestigious awards. Ooredoo Algeria 

reinforced its position as a market leader through a 

synergy of operational and commercial strategies, 

which also resulted in an enhanced network, B2B 

and data services.

Ooredoo Tunisia

2014 was a year of multiple investments and 

initiatives for Tunisia in support of its strategy of 

specific customer experience offering top-quality 

technological services. This move has created 

increased revenue from data, B2B and other fixed 

services. Consequently data consumption grew  

and smart phone penetration rate reached 21%.

Wataniya Mobile Palestine

Wataniya Mobile Palestine has established 

significant strategic partnerships to enhance 

customer services and initiatives. It also introduced 

a new billing system comprising of a number of 

tailored services. In collaboration with the Jordanian 

54



Toward the Future

We are looking forward to a brighter future and beyond with 

more confidence, drive and determination, particularly once our 

technical and management expertise reached the very highest 

level in the industry. All of our achievements this year were made 

possible by successfully establishing our new commercial brand.

We also fully realize the ever-increasing demand for smartphones 

across Middle East, North Africa and South East Asia, and we 

are aware that the GSMA Mobile World Congress 2015 will 

witness the introduction of a new range of smart technology which 

will enrich customers’ digital lifestyle exponentially.

God willing, we are confident that our success story will continue 

as we persist in our search for the best services to meet and 

exceed our customers’ expectations, and look  to offer them 

unique experiences as we continue to solidify our presence in the 

local and international market.

Saud bin Nasser Al Thani
Chairman

mobile company, “Umniah,” Wataniya launched a “One 

Network” service that promoted extensive customer growth. As 

well as this, the Company successfully completed a fiber project 

connecting Ramallah with its host in Jerusalem and the UK.

Throughout the year, the Company made every effort to 

accomplish its corporate social responsibilities in the most 

effective manner possible. Hence Wataniya Palestine signed a 

strategic partnership with the greatest universities in the country 

to sponsor students’ activities and offer several contributions to 

Gaza orphan children through the “Mostakbali” program that 

covered their tuition and living expenses as well as their social 

and legal rights. The Company also contributed to the Palestine 

Children’s Relief Fund (PCRF) by paying the travel costs of 

injured Palestine children and of those who traveled to Doha to 

meet Lionel Messi, the famous international football star and the 

ambassador of the Ooredoo brand.

Ooredoo Maldives

Ooredoo Maldives succeeded in obtaining a primary position 

in the group’s world map because of several factors, beginning 

with the launch of its 4G-LTE services and becoming the first 

operator to offer customer service outside of the capital city 

Malé. At the same time, Ooredoo Maldives has exponentially 

expanded the range of its 3G services to cover 64 additional 

islands and benefit 96% of the total population. 

Throughout the year, the Company’s successful initiatives 

have contributed to the launch of new platforms and several 

advancements and growth in corporate Internet services, 

including the launch of new products by the CLM platform, 

whose purpose was to satisfy its large consumer base. The 

Company’s partnership with Apple and Samsung also helped 

with securing its leading position in the data and devices sector.

In addition to these achievements, Ooredoo Maldives installed 

a new Wi-Fi station in Malé International Airport. In terms of 

its corporate social responsibilities, Ooredoo Maldives made 

a strategic partnership with the Haveero Sports Award 2014, 

and the Carrom World Cup 2014.
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CEO's
Message
Introduction

2014 was a year of diverse and fruitful activities. 
Our commitment to our customers and our resolutions 
for renovations and improvisations for 2014 kept 
us active. On 1st January, on New Year’s Day we 
launched a Customer Segmentation Programme. 
It thoroughly changed the traditional approach, 
making it more personalized and diversified to suit 
the tastes and capacity of our customers. 

On 14 May 2014, the company officially declared 
its brand shift from Wataniya to Ooredoo.  This 
transition has been instrumental in a series of 
initiatives and improvisations has pushed our 
company to the forefront in the telecom sector, both 
locally and internationally.

Ooredoo prompted us to be proactive and to 
act quicker and faster. The first move was to take 
customer-centric actions in products and services. A 
series of launches followed: Project O, a campaign 
to popularize the brand name ‘Ooredoo’ ;  “My 
Offer” for prepaid clients offering tailored plans, 
the launch of Apple’s iPhone 6 with Shamel post-
paid products and the IVR revamp, a self-service 
programme that enables the customer to manage 
their needs without a help desk or agents. Our 
international connections helped us develop strong 
partnerships with reputed companies like Huawei 
and Ericsson to improve the network coverage 
and capacity. 

The rebranding seemed to be a cause of many 
changes for the better. We are being assured of a 
bright future, despite the challenges. 

Financial Achievements

The revenue for 2014 amounted to KD 748.5m, 
up from KD 731.1 in the previous year, thereby 
achieving a growth of 2.4%. The profit attributable 
to Ooredoo Kuwait is KD 45.7m compared to  
KD 76.1 m in 2013. Our registered customer base is 
now at 23.2m, which marks an increase of 16.4%.

Rebranding and Sponsorship Initiatives

To attract the attention to our rebranding initiative, 
‘Project O’ was launched. Ooredoo means “I want” 
which became the theme of Project O. A teaser 
campaign launched all over Kuwait to ascertain the 
needs and wants of the people.  Having known what 
they wanted, the company thoughtfully selected and 
fulfilled a good number of them, winning their love 
and loyalty for the new brand.

This paved the way for us to establish collaborations 
with international organizations.  We launched an 
eco-friendly park in Yarmouk, Kuwait in collaboration 
with the UN Habitat using recycled materials alone 
to beautify it. It was declared as the healthiest city 
in Kuwait by WHO (World Health Organization).

In perfect understanding with the world renowned 
company, Apple, we launched their eagerly awaited 
iPhone 6 with our Shamel postpaid products. The 
launch made news when people queued up from 
midnight until the early hours next morning.  Our 
partnership with Huawei and Ericsson last year, 
again, served well to improve the network coverage 
and capacity through rolling out more than 1000 LTE 
new sites and modernizing the packet core network.

New Ventures

Our management team in liaison with its technical 
expertise and task force launched new ventures for 
post-paid, pre-paid and wireless broadband. For 
the first time in Kuwait, we let our customers carry 
forward the unused balance of ‘bundle benefits’ 
and also to share the same with others.  

The initiation of “My Offer” for prepaid clients hit the 
market, offering tailored plans that included minutes, 
SMS and the internet. We became a mainstream 
data provider by introducing competitive data 
offers with fabulous prizes like tablets. ‘Nojoom’, 
the biggest telecom reward program ever, also had 
an impact in the market as several world-renowned 
brands and stores offered their partnership to this 
bold venture.

A complete overhaul of the company structure and 
organization was required to make it more customer–
centric and service-oriented. This proactive venture 
was a big leap that held the doors of Ooredoo 
wide open to the people, from the high value local 
customers to the budget conscious users. We have 
offers and plans tailored for everyone in our new 
product portfolio 

Several innovative initiatives have been taken to 
make us a thoroughly proactive customer friendly 
organization. On New Year’s Day 2014, we 
introduced a ‘Customer segmentation programme.     
In fact this turned out to be very positive on all fronts; 
to the customer at all levels, especially the elite who 
generated 80% of the company revenue which was 
of substantial benefit to our company too. 
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Our Social Awareness

All our endeavor and achievements would be useless if we don’t carry 
out our obligation to society.  Corporate Social Responsibility has always 
been our primary concern. We have carried out several undertakings:

OxAdventure, an ideal youth programme sent many teenagers to 
developing countries to serve the communities in need. It was an “eye 
opener” to them on the grim realities of human life. A Braillo 300 printing 
machine for the blind was donated to the Kuwait Blind Association, the 
first of its kind ever to such an institution. Our supply of toys and other 
essential items to Bayt Abdulla, a children’s hospice, continues as usual 
while we have co-sponsored with Red Crescent Kuwait in supplying toys 
to the sick children in all the hospitals across our nation.

Our co-operation with the Ooredoo group has always been a prestigious 
source of benefits and inspiration. In 2014, our senior staff benefited 
greatly from the Ooredoo Business Leadership Programme.  Several fields 
of activities such as, leadership assessment, development programmes 
and the Ooredoo Mobility programme for gaining work experience were 
shared with the Group’s HR division.

The Challenges

2014 has witnessed several creditable achievements for Ooredoo.  The 
time ahead is not without challenges. New customer growth is at a low 
ebb across the industry. Voice usage has come down drastically and data 
usage goes on at incontrollable speed. 

The Future Perspective

Yet, in the wake of these challenges, we will not be discouraged, but 
are firmly determined to move forward at a better pace than we have 
ever been. We still have a vision which is yet to materialize and that 
is to provide our customers a cutting edge digital life style, mobile 
entertainment, TV and media content, an innovative and proactive 
payment gateway and many more such diversified options. 

We will play our part in bringing the latest innovations and exceptional 
experiences to all our customers and we will continue to do that in ways 
which reflect our values and brand promise. Finally we would like to thank 
our customers, partners, employees, and shareholders for their continued 
confidence and support. 

Mohammed bin Abdullah Al Thani
General Manager & CEO

The Key Customer focused Initiatives

On 24 April last year, an IVR revamp was introduced.  
It enabled our customers to enjoy self-service and manage their 
needs independently. This was a highly welcomed initiative that 
raised the revenue to KD 20, 500 per month. 

In September, a complete reorganization and make-over was 
commanded on the entire set up of our company to make it 
more service-oriented. Functional areas have been redefined 
to carry clear roles and responsibilities while unwanted layers 
of management were removed to cut overheads and achieve 
faster customer service. 

Our Customer care executives, now empowered with more 
authority and sophisticated tools were ready to serve the 
customers better and faster.

To further enhance the customer service, another 34 retail 
stores/outlets were opened across Kuwait to make an 
aggregate of 75 stores by December 2014 - an enviable 
landmark achievement.

The Key Technology Initiatives

Employing the latest technology, we introduced a new range 
of exciting range of services. The expansion of the LTE network 
all over Kuwait rendered genuine service to around 90% of 
the Kuwait population. The launch of the first e-commerce site 
enabled our customers to shop online, look for new devices 
and services with ease.  Similarly the introduction of data 
sharing, minute rollover and HD voice, have encouraged 
excited customers to rush to our outlets.

Another important advancement was the shifting of most of our 
services to a private cloud that led to significant improvements 
in time to the market and to capital efficiency.  The improvisation 
of the ERP system and the initiation of the latest Oracle R12 
modules have led to reviewing and adopting  the best business 
processes including finance, procurement, human resources 
and asset management.

The Key Investments of 2014

We made several key investments in 2014: the launch of 
e-channels, the opening of more franchisee outlets, an extended 
powerful network and employee development. They are the 
perennial sources of our energy. Our HR has already made 
headway in sending to send deserving candidates for higher 
studies up to post-graduate level on scholarships. This has been 
recognized by the Kuwait Fund for the Advancement of Science 
and the Manpower Restructuring Programme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014

Financial
Highlights

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Ooredoo Total subscribers 2.5 2.0
Kuwait Revenue  168.0  194.9

EBITDA  37.0  52.0
EBITDA % 22% 27%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  14.9  14.8

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Ooredoo Total subscribers  7.6  7.4
Tunisia Revenue  178.7  195.2

EBITDA  83.7  102.2
EBITDA % 47% 52%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  17.5  28.0

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Ooredoo Total subscribers  12.2  9.5
Algeria Revenue  361.3  302.7

EBITDA  115.1  123.4
EBITDA % 32% 41%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  12.1  40.6

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Ooredoo Total subscribers  0.3  0.2
Maldives Revenue  16.2  12.9

EBITDA  5.3  3.0
EBITDA % 33% 23%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  1.3  (2.0)

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Wataniya Mobile Total subscribers  0.6  0.6
Palestine Revenue  24.3  25.3

EBITDA  3.7  2.5
EBITDA % 15% 10%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  (2.3)  (2.9)

Year 2014 (in millions) Year 2013 (in millions)
Ooredoo Total subscribers  23.2  19.9
Kuwait Consolidated Revenue  748.5  731.1

EBITDA  242.8  281.3
EBITDA % 32% 38%
Net profit to Ooredoo Kuwait  45.7  76.1

Financial
Highlights
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Net Profit to Ooredoo Kuwait 
(KD Millions)

EBITDA 
(KD Millions)

Revenue 
(KD Millions)

* In Q1 2011, a fair value gain (non-cash) of KD 265.3 million was recorded due to a revaluation of the 
existing held interest in Ooredoo Tunisia following the increase in the shareholding from 50% to 75%.

Proportional Subscribers 
(In Millions)
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Ooredoo Kuwait pursued key strategic initiatives in the past year. 
The rebranding of Wataniya and the introduction of the Ooredoo 
brand in Kuwait have positioned the company at the forefront 
of regional and international service providers. Ooredoo Kuwait 
has implemented various initiatives to appeal to the diverse needs 
of customers, including enhanced product portfolios for postpaid, 
prepaid and wireless broadband customers, Shamel plans to 
increase bundle flexibility, and the launch of the iPhone 6 and 
iPhone 6 Plus. These initiatives have accelerated Ooredoo’s 
position as a leader amongst its competitors in the Kuwaiti market. 

Ooredoo

Kuwait
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In advance of the introduction of the Ooredoo brand in Kuwait, 
the Company launched a highly successful promotional campaign, 
entitled Project O, also known as I WANT. The campaign served 
to introduce customers to the brand of Ooredoo, Arabic for  
“I want.” Booths were set up in some of Kuwait’s largest malls and 
customers were asked to express their individual wants. Ooredoo 
fulfilled customer desires, which included house makeovers and 
tickets to attend some of Spain’s most desired football matches. 
The campaign successfully illustrated Ooredoo’s commitment to 
enhancing the lives of users and reflected its mission as a Company 
to be more than just a telecommunications service provider. Ooredoo 
Kuwait also collaborated with the UN Habitat to establish the eco-
friendly Yarmouk Park. Ooredoo partnered with Apple to launch its 
iPhone 6, and collaborated with international brands Huawei and 
Ericsson to enhance its network coverage and capacity. 

With the objective of strengthening its foundation across Kuwait, 
Ooredoo pursued investments in employee development. The 
Company implemented a new Human Resources policy and 
introduced a performance-based scholarship for Ooredoo 
employees, which aims to sponsor Bachelor's and Master's 
degree for high-achieving Ooredoo employees. Senior employees 
participated in the Ooredoo Group Business Leadership Program 
to further develop and deepen leadership skills. Ooredoo was 
recognized for its employee education programs by the Kuwait 
Fund for the Advancement of Science and the Manpower  
Restructuring Program.

Although Ooredoo Kuwait enjoyed a highly rewarding year, the 
Company faced obstacles relating to a highly saturated market 
and slow growth from new customers. The decline in voice usage 
and the increasing importance and usage of data were partially 
offset by innovative bundle packs for customers. A second area of 
concern was the regulatory framework and environment in Kuwait, 
which is still in the formalization stage after the establishment of 
the Telecommunications Regulatory Authority (TRA) law and the 
selection of TRA board members. 

Despite these challenges, Ooredoo Kuwait aims to offer its 
customers a comprehensive and holistic digital lifestyle. Motivated 
by the mission to be more than just a telecommunications service 
provider, Ooredoo plans to offer users mobile entertainment, TV 
and media content, and a reputable and innovative payment 
gateway. Ooredoo’s strategic aims for 2015 seek to inspire and 
engage high-value customers and to expand reach and brand 
across the country. 

Ooredoo Kuwait maintained a strong focus on customers through 
customer experience and engagement initiatives, organization 
structural reforms, and retail expansions to reach a broader range 
of customers. The Company has shifted towards customized 
treatment and differentiated service for high-value customers 
and through the Interactive Voice Response (IVR) and Ooredoo 
Customer Experience (VOCE), has demonstrated a proactive 
customer engagement strategy. The Company’s structure was re-
designed and functional roles were streamlined to produce a 
more service-oriented and customer-centric organization. 

Ooredoo Kuwait pursued the most ambitious retail expansion 
plan in its history as an operator, increasing its retail presence 
from 41 stores in January 2014 to 75 by December 2014. The 
expansion reflects the Company’s commitment to reaching out 
to its customers, delivering its products and services at locations 
that are most convenient and relevant to the market.

Ooredoo Kuwait continued to play an integral role in Kuwaiti 
society and demonstrated a strong commitment to issues of 
corporate social responsibility. The Company sponsored 
OXAdventure Youth Project, a youth leadership program that 
offers young Kuwaitis the opportunity to work in aid-related 
programs and contribute to communities in developing 
countries. Led by its vision to improve the social and economic 
development of communities, Ooredoo granted a Braillo 300 
printing machine to the Kuwait Blind Association, supported Bayt 
Abdullah, a children’s hospice, and continued collaboration 
with the Kuwait Red Crescent. 

Technological advancements have enabled Ooredoo Kuwait 
to drive customer adoption and capitalize on new services and 
experiences. Ooredoo continued to expand its LTE network 
across Kuwait, covering more than 90% of Kuwait’s population. 
The launch of the first e-commerce site in Kuwait has allowed 
customers to shop for devices and services with ease and the 
introduction of data sharing, minute rollover, and HD voice has 
enhanced customer experience.

Ooredoo Kuwait shifted a majority of its services to a private 
cloud, which has led to significant improvements in time to 
market and capital efficiency. The Company also modernized 
its ERP system and has implemented the latest Oracle R12 
modules, which allows the company to review and adopt the 
best-in-class business processes including finance, procurement, 
human resources and asset management. 
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Ooredoo Tunisia continued to make an impact on the local 
community with a variety of initiatives and partnerships aimed 
at supporting education, children, health and wellness, and 
entrepreneurs. The Company supports Ennour, an after-school 
centre that supervises high risk and vulnerable children, and 
DARNA, an association aimed at offering abandoned children 
a safe home. In collaboration with the Qatar Friendship Fund 
and Microsoft, Ooredoo manages IntilaQ, a start-up technology 
incubator for small businesses, and supports the fund by identifying 
businesses for backing and investments. Since its establishment, 
the fund has supported around 20 start-ups. 

Key relationships with influential partners continue to underpin 
Ooredoo Tunisia’s commitment to corporate social responsibility. 
The Company sponsored multiple sport associations in 2014, 
including the Tunisian Handball Federation and Club African, the 
most widely supported football team in Tunisia.

After witnessing the first free and fair presidential election in 
Tunisia since its independence, 2014 has been a challenging 
year to navigate. In addition to a sustained period of political 
instability since the revolution, difficult macroeconomics and 
slower economic growth have impacted the development of the 
business. Regulatory risks remain an important consideration in 
the country and the Company has looked for strategic ways to 
diffuse the impact of this on its commercial program. Increased 
adoption of Over the Top (OTT) services, which affect roaming 
and international terminating revenues, as well as operator 
competition have also emerged as challenges and Ooredoo 
Tunisia will continue to launch more innovative solutions, services, 
and leverage relationships with key players to combat these 
pressures.  

The year ahead 

From its market leadership position, Ooredoo Tunisia will continue 
to expand its service offerings and meet the demands of a 
dynamic customer base. Some of these offerings will converge 
opportunities for enterprising customers and bundle services for 
consumers. Cloud based services, mobile payments through 
Mobiflouss, end to end solutions, and security services for homes 
and businesses will be key areas of development in 2015.

Ownership

Ooredoo Kuwait owns 75% of Ooredoo Tunisia.

Achievements

Ooredoo Tunisia has continued to succeed with multiple 
investments and initiatives to support its strategy of delivering 
exceptional customer experience and technologically advanced 
top-quality services. 

In 2014, Ooredoo Tunisia executed its growth strategy, investing 
in multiple infrastructural improvements and new business lines 
in the areas of mobile money and security services. This strategy 
has facilitated increased revenue from data, B2B and fixed 
services. The Company also placed significant focus on data 
services, resulting in a significant increase in the use of data and 
a smart phone penetration rate reaching 21%. Ooredoo Tunisia 
was also the recipient of a Global Business Telecommunications 
Award for launching a highly innovative virtual mobile payment 
service that has critically improved the customer service.  

Underpinning Ooredoo’s focus on customer service, the 
Company offered new products and customer value 
management initiatives throughout the year. The branded 
smart phone ‘Odysee’, which was successfully launched 
in October, generated substantial data revenue and led to 
the mass adoption of data services. Ooredoo Tunisia also 
launched a customer satisfaction campaign for key accounts 
and regularly implements customer satisfaction surveys to 
understand major indicators. 

Significant technological launches were pursued to meet the 
changing demands of data savvy customers. In September 
2014, a new undersea cable was installed between Tunisia 
and Italy, providing additional capacity and a new facility for 
international leased line services. The Company invested in 
radio improvements to enable 3G coverage to reach 88% of the 
population, and deployed six new Wi-Fi hot spots, with plans to 
deploy four more additional spots in early 2015.  An upgrade 
to core capacity has supported the growth of Internet demand, 
and Centrex platform integration has helped deliver hosted voice 
services to B2B customers. The Company has also launched 
an Application Programme Interface (API) gateway to create 
exciting and margin-improving services for corporate customers. 
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and mobile content, and PISTE, a program that works towards 
boosting TIC adoption in Algerian SMEs. 

The Company reinforced its technological leadership position and 
considerably enlarged its 3G coverage. More than 1500 km of 
fiber were deployed, connecting major network elements across 
the country. Packet core distributed architecture was established to 
offer an improved network with greater efficiency and resiliency. 
An internet caching solution was launched to facilitate greater 
internet service to customers and an OCloud Solutions which is 
an Ooredoo cloud service platform was launched to enrich the 
Company’s business services portfolio. 

As part of its commitment to employees, Ooredoo Algeria has 
invested significantly in its people. Ooredoo invested in both 
its top-level management and mid-level management teams by 
implementing a training program, in which eligible executives 
and managers are sent to formal business training at prestigious 
business schools in both France and Algeria. The program 
has continued for the past two years, with several new waves 
of executives participating in the training program. Two top 
management executives from Ooredoo Algeria were selected to 
participate in the second edition of the Leadership Development 
Program (LDP), which is financed by the Ooredoo Group.

The year ahead 

During 2015, Ooredoo Algeria will work towards maintaining 
its leadership position in the 3G market by maximizing profitable 
opportunities. Confirmed by customer perception studies, the 
Company’s 3G network continues to outperform that of competitors. 
Capitalizing on innovative value-added services strongly linked to 
the 3G ecosystem, Ooredoo Algeria will continue to pursue and 
launch services that reflect a strong understanding of differentiated 
customer segments and corresponding preferences. The Company 
will also look to secure and strengthen technology and business 
leadership in the data realm prior to the launch of LTE technology. 

Ownership

Ooredoo Kuwait owns 71% of Ooredoo Algeria.

Achievements 

During the past year, Ooredoo Algeria has witnessed great 
revenue growth and new revenue streams from enhanced data 
services. The Company has successfully deployed 3G services 
in 15 high-growth markets, leading to its position as a market 
leader in 3G services, especially in terms of data network 
quality and speed. Based on these operational achievements, 
a targeted commercial strategy, and the launch of innovative 
services, Ooredoo Algeria has become the most recommended 
brand among mobile customers. These successes are recognized 
by multiple awards, including North African Mobile Operator 
of the Year 2014 by Africa Telecom People Awards and the 
Bronze Stevie Award by International Business Awards. 

Underpinning its customer-oriented strategy, Ooredoo Algeria 
initiated multiple programs. Ooredoo implemented multiple 
market surveys to gather customer satisfaction research and 
understand key brand equity drivers. Major initiatives focused 
on gathering customer experience insight at Ooredoo retail 
stores and subsequent feedback has resulted in a significant 
improvement in key customer experience indicators. 

Ooredoo Algeria participated in various corporate social 
responsibility initiatives. For the 9th consecutive year, Ooredoo 
celebrated International Women’s Day and promoted Algerian 
women participation in athletics. The Company also showed its 
support for increased literacy throughout Algeria and celebrated 
the Arab Day of Literacy with the Algerian Association of Literacy 
“IQRAA.” Social responsibility partnerships were continued 
with the Algerian Red Crescent and the Leo Messi Foundation, 
culminating in the launch of mobile medical clinics. 

A significant public-private partnership with Agence Nationale 
de Développement de la Petite et Moyenne Entreprise (ANDPME) 
has added significant value to the Algerian economy and has 
worked towards addressing the underdevelopment of the SME 
sector in regard to TIC technologies, the structural difficulties 
of becoming an entrepreneur, and youth unemployment. The 
partnership has helped to combat these issues through tSTART, 
a program that incubates or accelerates the most innovative 
technological startups. iSTART is another program that facilitates 
the development of the most innovative mobile applications 
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Ooredoo
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to distribute water across the city and assist community members 
affected by the water shortage. Ooredoo Qatar also donated 
US$75,000 to the President’s Relief Fund to help repair the sole 
water treatment plant in Malé. 

In addition, Ooredoo Maldives secured a strategic partnership 
with Haveeru Sports Award 2014, the best-known awards 
programme in Maldives that recognises athletes in the Maldives 
and promotes children's inclusion through sports. Ooredoo 
Maldives also pursued a partnership with the Carrom World Cup 
2014, held in the Maldives, as well as a road safety initiative 
with the Ministry of Transport and Communications. 

The year ahead

In its pursuit to increase the revenue streams in 2015, Ooredoo 
Maldives intends to focus on three major levels. First, the youth 
segment, one of the most profitable society segments, as young 
people constitute 60% of Maldives’ total population. The 
Company plans to launch a range of youth-focused services, 
including live TV streaming, online music, online gaming services, 
free socialising, URL bundling, and weekend offers. Secondly, 
with the CLM platform already developed, Ooredoo Maldives 
will continue to pursue a segment-based approach that targets 
high value and premium base customers with innovative offerings 
and products, as well as loyalty management initiatives. Thirdly, 
the Company will work to increase its postpaid market share with 
affordable products, device bundling and value-added services.  

Ownership

Ooredoo Kuwait holds 100% of the operations of Ooredoo 
Maldives.

Achievements

After a successful transition to the Ooredoo Brand in 2013, 
Ooredoo Maldives made significant strides in 2014. During the 
year, the Company continued to greatly improve and invest in 
its service offering for customers. Ooredoo Maldives launched 
LTE services in the Maldives to be the first operator that offers LTE 
services outside Malé. The Company considerably enhanced 
the reach of its 3G network, with coverage extending to an 
additional 64 islands and reaching 96% of the population. 
Oordeoo Maldives continued to make a positive impact on 
its local community and was particularly effective during the 
Malé water shortage in late 2014. For its efforts, the Company 
received recognition from the President of the Maldives, H.E 
Abdulla Yameen.

To this end, Ooredoo Maldives pursued key strategic initiatives 
during the course of the year. Partnerships and the launch of new 
platforms contributed to the growth of Ooredoo data services, 
which were well received by customers. The launch of the 
Customer Lifecycle Management (CLM) platform enabled the 
Company to offer products to meet the needs of its dynamic and 
diverse customer base. An innovative smartphone campaign 
and strategic partnership with Samsung and Apple have 
propelled Ooredoo Maldives to a leadership position in data 
and device services. A 20% increase in distribution channels 
facilitated broader access and enhanced the availability of 
products and services in less populated areas. 

In addition to these developments, Ooredoo Maldives invested 
in major technological infrastructure upgrades to support its 
widening service offering. Implementation of gigabit passive 
optical networking, Radio Access Network modernization, 
Google caching, as well as a new Wi-Fi installation at Malé 
airport have all contributed to increased speed of service and 
enhanced quality.  

Underlining its commitment to local communities, nearly half 
of Ooredoo Maldives’ employees collaborated with the 
Maldives National Defense Force and Maldivian Red Crescent 
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Key challenges 

Despite the great strides that Wataniya Mobile Palestine has made 
during the past year, the Company faced significant challenges, 
especially with regards to the Gaza market. The Gaza telecom 
market has been dominated by one operator for more than 16 
years. In this sequence, the Company’s regulatory department 
has continued to work with the Ministry of Telecommunications 
& Information Technology to rectify the telecom regulatory 
environment. The conflict in Gaza, during the summer 2014, 
greatly impeded the deployment of the Company’s network. 
Wataniya Mobile Palestine has refocused its efforts on commercial 
and technical operational plans to accommodate post-conflict 
outcomes in Gaza and proceed with the project. 

The year ahead 

During 2015, Wataniya Mobile Palestine will continue to reach a 
broader range of customers. The Company aims to secure a strong 
position in the Palestinian telecom market, which is characterised 
by a low penetration rate and median age. The launch of 
commercial services in the Gaza market and 3G capabilities 
will further increase the Company’s mobile market share and 
revenue stream. Wataniya Mobile Palestine also intends to take 
advantage of cost-saving mechanisms, which include reducing 
operational expenditures through the Backbone reshaping project 
and insourcing network spare parts management.  

Ownership

Ooredoo Kuwait holds 48.45% stake in the operations of 
Wataniya Mobile Palestine.

Achievements

During the past year, the Wataniya Mobile Palestine team 
pursued multiple initiatives and strategic partnerships to maintain 
a strong bond with their customers and reach new customers. 
The launch of new technologies and services, such as a new 
billing system that offers tailored services, strategic partnerships, 
and most notably, the launch of the “One Network” service with 
the Jordanian mobile company Umniah, were undertaken to 
raise customer satisfaction and loyalty. 

Additional customer-focused initiatives were launched during 
the year to include wall-mounted dashboards, being set up 
in call centres to relay customer responses live, encourage 
contact centre agents and monitor performance, the launch 
of an outgoing “SMS feedback” tool, an internally developed 
Interactive Voice Response (IVR) to gather feedback on customer 
satisfaction as well as synchronise customer-focused initiatives.

Underpinning the delivery of its range of enhanced customer 
services were Wataniya Mobile Palestine’s key technology 
initiatives undertaken by the business during the year. The 
Company successfully completed a fiber project that connects 
Ramallah with its new hosting location in Jerusalem, enjoyed 
significant progress in the backbone reshaping and Internet 
Service Provider (ISP) hosting in the UK, and achieved major 
network Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).  

Wataniya Mobile Palestine maintained a strong focus on brand 
development and corporate social responsibility. Palestinian 
singer Mohammed Assaf officially became Wataniya 
Palestine’s brand ambassador. The Company signed strategic 
agreements with major universities in Palestine to sponsor 
student activities and supported Gaza orphans through the 
Mostakbali project, by offering them security to safeguard their 
educational, economic, social and legal rights. The Company 
also cooperated with the Palestine Children’s Relief Fund 
(PCRF) by funding travel costs for injured children in need of 
medical treatment abroad, established and funded a trip for 
Palestinian children to meet Ooredoo’s Global ambassador 
Leo Messi in Doha. 
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility
As part of its corporate social responsibility and in line with the Group's vision, Ooredoo 
Kuwait's social plan for 2014 covered the main four pillars of growth and social development: 
youth, women, entrepreneurs and underserved communities. To achieve these goals, the 
Company continued relentless efforts to deliver its promise of enhancing people's lifestyle in 
Kuwait. Ooredoo Kuwait collaborated as well with several organizations widely known for 
their community outreach programs, locally and internationally. 

•	OXAdventure:

OXAdventure is a youth leadership program that involves young Kuwaitis to work in aid programs 
in developing countries. The program gives young Kuwaitis a unique opportunity to contribute 
their actual labor in support of communities in need. The experience was described by many 
young attendees as life-changing. It gave them an opportunity to work with social problems at 
grass-root levels and make significant contributions to the lives of the less fortunate.

•	Kuwait	Blind	Association:

In its efforts to provide support and contribute to the underserved communities in Kuwait, 
Ooredoo Kuwait donated a Braillo 300 printing machine to the Kuwait Blind Association 
in May. The Braillo 300 is the first printing machine owned by a non-profit organization in 
Kuwait that provides printed reading material for the blind community in Kuwait, embossed 
in the Braille Method. The Company also continued its usual support for Bayt Abdullah, a 
children hospice, by providing toys and other items requested by the children in the hospice. It 
also continued its collaboration with the Kuwait Red Crescent by providing toys to sick children 
across Kuwait’s different hospitals.

•	UN	Habitat:

Ooredoo Kuwait collaborated with the UN Habitat in the launch of the eco-friendly Yarmouk 
Park, which uses recycled materials in its decoration, centerpieces and art work. The park was 
built in Yarmouk, an area voted as the healthiest in Kuwait by the World Health Organization. 
The park launch was part of celebrating World Cities Day. This support stems from the 
Company’s belief in its civic role and duty towards enhancing human habitat in Kuwait.

•	Kuwait	Industrial	Union:

In its efforts to support entrepreneurs, Ooredoo Kuwait signed a cooperation agreement with 
the Kuwait Industrial Union to partnership in its youth project incubator. The project completed 
its preparation phases towards the end of 2014 and will launch in early 2015. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2014, and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We further report that we obtained the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our 
audit and that the consolidated financial statements include the information required by the Companies Law 
No. 25 of 2012, as amended, its Executive Regulations and the Company’s Articles and Memorandum of 
Association. In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, an inventory count was 
carried out in accordance with recognised procedures and the accounting information given in the Board of 
Directors’ report agrees with the books of account. We have not become aware of any contravention, during 
the year ended 31 December 2014, of the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, its Executive 
Regulations or of the Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association, that might have had a material 
effect on the Group’s activities or on its consolidated financial position. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders of
National Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P.
Kuwait

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of National Mobile Telecommunications 
Company K.S.C.P. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.
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2014 2013
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Continuing operations

Revenue 748,496 731,117
Cost of revenue )324,086( )270,813(

424,410 460,304

Administrative expenses )128,609( )129,098(
Selling and distribution costs )69,644( )64,096(
Finance costs - net 14 )7,695( )5,390(
Depreciation and amortisation 4 & 5 )145,847( )129,392(
Other expenses - net 15 )183( )5,558(
Impairment loss 5 & 6 - )138(
Gain on sale of subsidiary 10 3,628 -
Profit before Directors’ remuneration, provision for 
contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of 
Sciences (“KFAS”), National Labour Support Tax (“NLST”), 
Zakat and taxation from continuing operations 76,060 126,632

Directors’ remuneration )605( )721(
Provision for contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat 17 )2,058( )2,837(
Profit before taxation from continuing operations 73,397 123,074

Taxation related to subsidiaries 7 )19,667( )25,979(

Profit for the year from continuing operations 53,730 97,095

Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued operations 10 - 751
Profit for the year 53,730 97,846

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 45,718 76,095
Non-controlling interests 8,012 21,751

53,730 97,846
Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) 18 91 152
Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) – continuing 
operations 18 91 150

The accompanying notes set out on pages 45 to 92 form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.

2014 2013
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 4 697,170 679,730
Intangible assets and goodwill 5 517,957 583,774
Available for sale financial assets 6 7,050 8,691
Deferred tax asset 7 2,649 1,567
Other non-current assets 357 393

1,225,183 1,274,155
Current assets
Inventories 34,838 27,049
Trade and other receivables 8 198,509 169,434
Bank balances and cash 9 89,399 141,702
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 10 - 29,070

322,746 367,255
Total assets 1,547,929 1,641,410

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 11 50,403 50,403
Treasury shares 11 )3,598( )3,598(
Reserves 11 89,048 135,913
Retained earnings 601,088 622,853
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 736,941 805,571
Non-controlling interests 116,447 126,880
Total equity 853,388 932,451

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long term debts 12 62,394 96,853
Provision for staff indemnity 5,579 5,327
Other non-current liabilities 18,484 18,037

86,457 120,217
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 447,391 464,492
Deferred income 43,153 37,256
Long term debts 12 117,540 48,225
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 10 - 38,769

608,084 588,742
Total liabilities 694,541 708,959
Total equity and liabilities 1,547,929 1,641,410

Saud Bin Nasser Al Thani
Chairman

The accompanying notes set out on pages 45 to 92 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of profit or loss  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2014
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Reserves

Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Share 
premium

Statutory 
reserve

General 
reserve

Treasury 
shares 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 

to 
shareholders 
of Company

Non-
controlling  

interests
Total 

equity

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD
 000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD
 000’s

KD
 000’s

KD 
000’s

Balance at 
31 December 
2012 50,403 )3,598( 66,634 32,200 105,051 6,914 429 )59,184( 3,412 155,456 617,605 819,866 139,296 959,162

Comprehensive 
income

Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 76,095 76,095 21,751 97,846

Other 
comprehensive 
loss for the year - - - - - - 699 )28,207( - )27,508( - )27,508( )3,463( )30,971(

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year - - - - - - 699 )28,207( - )27,508( 76,095 48,587 18,288 66,875

Movement in 
non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - - - )237( )237( 70 )167(

Dividends (note 
11) - - - - - - - - - - )62,645( )62,645( )30,774( )93,419(

Transfer to 
general reserve 
(note 11) - - - - 7,965 - - - - 7,965 )7,965( - - -

Balance at 
31 December 
2013 50,403 )3,598( 66,634 32,200 113,016 6,914 1,128 )87,391( 3,412 135,913 622,853 805,571 126,880 932,451

Comprehensive 
income

Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 45,718 45,718 8,012 53,730

Other 
comprehensive 
loss for the year - - - - - - )705( )50,998( - )51,703( - )51,703( )9,541( )61,244(

Total 
comprehensive 
loss for the year - - - - - - )705( )50,998( - )51,703( 45,718 )5,985( )1,529( )7,514(

Dividends (note 
11) - - - - - - - - - - )62,645( )62,645( )8,904( )71,549(

Transfer to 
general reserve 
(note 11) - - - - 4,838 - - - - 4,838 (4,838) - - -

Balance at 
31 December 
2014 50,403 )3,598( 66,634 32,200 117,854 6,914 423 )138,389( 3,412 89,048 601,088 736,941 116,447 853,388

The accompanying notes set out on pages 45 to 92 form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.

 2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Profit for the year 53,730 97,846

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets )731( 810

Net loss / (gain) on sale of available for sale financial assets transferred 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss  (note 15) 26 )117(
Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets transferred to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss  (note 6) - 6

Exchange difference transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss 685 -
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations and fair 
value reserve )61,224( )31,670(
Total items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss )61,244( )30,971(
Other comprehensive loss for the year )61,244( )30,971(
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year )7,514( 66,875

Attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Company )5,985( 48,587

Non-controlling interests )1,529( 18,288

)7,514( 66,875

The accompanying notes set out on pages 45 to 92 form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Incorporation and activities 

National Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (“the Company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding company 
incorporated by Amiri Decree on 10 October 1997. The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 
“the Group”) are engaged in the following:

- Purchase, supply, installation, management and maintenance of wireless sets and equipment, mobile 
telephone services, pager system and other telecommunication services;

- Import and export of sets, equipment and instruments necessary for the purposes of the Company;

- Purchase or hiring communication lines and facilities necessary for providing the Company’s services in co-
ordination with the services provided by the State, but without interference or conflict herewith;

- Purchase of manufacturing concessions directly related to the Company’s services from manufacturers or 
producing them in Kuwait;

- Introduction or management of other services of similar nature and supplementary to telecommunications 
services with a view to upgrade such services or rendering them integrated;

- Conduct technical research relating to the Company’s business in order to improve and upgrade the 
Company’s services in co-operation with competent authorities within Kuwait and abroad;

- Purchase and holding of lands, construction and building of facilities required for achieving the Company’s 
objectives;

- Purchase of all materials and machineries needed to undertake the Company’s activities as well as their 
maintenance in all possible modern methods;

- Use of financial surplus available at the Company by investing the same in portfolios managed by specialised 
companies and parties as well as authorizing the Board to undertake the same; and

- The Company may have interest or in any way participate with corporate and organizations which practice 
similar activities or which may assist it in achieving its objectives in Kuwait or abroad. It may acquire such 
corporates, or make them subsidiary.

The Company operates under a licence from the Ministry of Communications, State of Kuwait and also elsewhere 
through subsidiaries in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region and Maldives. The Company’s shares 
were listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange in July 1999 and commercial operations began in December 1999. 

The Company is a subsidiary of Qtel International Investments L.L.C. (parent company) one of the subsidiaries 
of Ooredoo Q.S.C. (“Ooredoo”) (ultimate parent company), a Qatari shareholding company listed on the 
Qatar Exchange.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Ooredoo Tower, Soor Street, Kuwait City, State of Kuwait, 
P.O.Box 613, Safat 13007, State of Kuwait.

The number of employees of the Company at 31 December 2014 was 681 (2013: 950).

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
23 February 2015 and are subject to the approval of the Annual General Assembly of the shareholders which 
has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements.

2014 2013
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year from continuing operations 53,730 97,095
Profit for the year from discontinued operations - 751
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 4 & 5 145,847 136,213
Dividend income 15 )1( )62(
Finance income 14 )1,543( )2,210(
Loss / (gain) on sale of available for sale financial assets 26 )117(
Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets and 
intangible assets 5 & 6 - 138
Gain on sale of subsidiary 10 )3,628( -
Provision for impairment of receivables 8 8,225 10,039
Taxation relating to subsidiaries 7 )1,220( 689
Loss on disposal and write off of property and equipment 
and intangibles 1,247 1,145
Finance costs 14 9,238 7,600
Provision for KFAS, NLST  and Zakat 17 2,058 2,837
Provision for staff indemnity 1,775 1,946

215,754 256,064
Changes in:
Trade and other receivables and other non-current assets )36,311( )38,406(
Inventories )7,788( )13,058(
Trade and other payables and other non-current liabilities )26,120( 148,406
Cash generated from operating activities 145,535 353,006
Provision for staff indemnity paid )1,588( )786(
Net cash generated from operating activities 143,947 352,220

Cash flows from investing activities:
Decrease / (increase)  in term deposits 12,263 )4,773(
Purchase of available for sale financial assets 6 )71( )1,159(
Proceeds from sale of available for sale financial assets 981 2,501
Purchase of property and equipment 4 )165,293( )282,861(
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 325 26,540
Purchase of intangible assets 5 )6,103( )29,441(
Payment on disposal of a subsidiary 10 )6,044( -
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets - 24
Dividend income received 1 52
Interest income received 1,543 2,210
Net cash used in investing activities )162,398( )286,907(

Cash flows from financing activities:
Finance costs paid )9,238( )7,600(
Dividends paid )61,784( )62,645(
Dividend paid by subsidiary to non-controlling interests )10,659( )30,774(
Net increase in long term debts 41,997 36,797
Net movement in non-controlling interest   - )167(
Net cash used in financing activities )39,684( )64,389(
Effect of foreign currency translation 2,623 )284(
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents )55,512( 640
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 137,869 137,229
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 82,357 137,869

The accompanying notes set out on pages 45 to 92 form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’

This amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must also be 
legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, 
insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also considers settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not 
have a significant effect on the Group consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 36 Impairment of assets 

These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures required under IAS 
36. In addition, these amendments require disclosures of the recoverable amounts for the assets or CGUs 
for which impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the period. These amendments are 
effective retrospectively and accordingly are considered while making disclosures for impairment of non-
financial assets in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and would 
continue to be considered for future disclosures.

IFRIC 21 Levies

IFRIC 21 addresses the accounting for a liability to pay a levy if that liability is within the scope of IAS 37 
‘Provisions’. The interpretation addresses what the obligating event is that gives rise to pay a levy, and 
when should a liability be recognised. The adoption of the interpretation has had no significant effect on 
the consolidated financial statements for earlier years and on the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2014.

The management anticipates that the above standards, interpretations and amendments have no significant 
financial impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Other standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial year beginning on 1 
January 2014 are not material to the Group.

d. Standards and interpretations not yet effective or adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements. Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt 
these standards early.

IFRS 11 (Amendments) – Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations 

The amendments require business combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of interests in a joint 
operation that constitutes a business; the amendments place the focus firmly on the definition of a business, 
because this is key to determining whether the acquisition is accounted for as a business combination or 
as the acquisition of a collection of assets. The amendments are applied to an annual financial statements 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. There is no major impact on the Group.

IAS 16 (Amendments) – Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation

The amendments explicitly state that revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used for property, 
plant and equipment. This is because such methods reflect factors other than the consumption of economic 
benefits embodied in the asset. The amendments are applied to an annual financial statements beginning 
on or after 1 January 2016. There is no major impact on the Group.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies have been applied consistently by the Group and are consistent with those 
used in the previous year, with the exception of new accounting policies as set out in note 2 (c).

a. Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
measurement at fair value of “available for sale financial assets”.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”), which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency, rounded off to the nearest thousand. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions 
may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in the period the assumptions 
changed. The management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

b. Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS promulgated by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Committee of the IASB and the requirements of the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, 
the Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association and the Ministerial Order No.18 of 1990.

c. Revised and newly issued IFRS adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following revised and newly issued IFRS effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014:

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27

Amendments were made to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in 
Other Entities and IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements to:

•	 provide	‘investment	entities’	(as	defined)	an	exemption	from	the	consolidation	of	particular	subsidiaries	
and instead require that an investment entity measures the investment in each eligible subsidiary at 
fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; 

•	 require	 additional	 disclosure	 about	 why	 the	 entity	 is	 considered	 an	 investment	 entity,	 details	 of	 the	
entity’s unconsolidated subsidiaries, and the nature of relationship and certain transactions between the 
investment entity and its subsidiaries; and

•	 require	an	investment	entity	to	account	for	its	investment	in	a	relevant	subsidiary	in	the	same	way	in	its	
consolidated and separate financial statements (or to only provide separate financial statements if all 
subsidiaries are unconsolidated).

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
c. Revised and newly issued IFRS adopted by the Group (continued)

4746



Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions are also eliminated. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Loss of control

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling 
interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the 
loss of control is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the 
previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently 
it is accounted for as an equity-accounted or as an available for sale financial asset depending on the level 
of influence retained.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has the right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its powers over the entity.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

- the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

- if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the 
acquiree; less

- the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the result is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts generally are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination, are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

IAS 38 (Amendments) – Clarification of acceptable methods of amortisation

The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortisation methods 
for intangible assets is inappropriate. This presumption can be overcome only when revenue and the 
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are “highly correlated”, or when the intangible 
asset is expressed as a measure of revenue. The amendments are applied to an annual financial statements 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. There is no major impact on the Group.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’

IFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users 
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good 
or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The 
standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and related interpretations. The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and earlier application is 
permitted. The Group is assessing the impact of IFRS 15.

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates 
to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 
measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised 
cost, fair value through OCI and fair value through P&L. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s 
business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity 
instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at 
inception to present changes in fair value in OCI not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses 
model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial liabilities there were 
no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in 
other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes 
the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires 
an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ 
to be the same as the one management actually uses for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous 
documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39. The standard is 
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

e. Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(note 16). 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
e. Basis of consolidation (continued)
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Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated to Kuwaiti Dinar at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and 
expenses for each statements of profit or loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in this case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions). 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the foreign 
currency translation reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. However, if the foreign 
operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant portion of the translation difference is allocated 
to non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence 
or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that foreign 
operation is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 
retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned 
nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses arising from such item are considered 
to form part of a net investment in the foreign operation and are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, and presented in foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity.

g. Financial instruments

i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred 
financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: 

•	 loans	and	receivables;	and	

•	 available	for	sale	financial	assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 

consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss or in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by 

the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount 

of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business 

combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared 

with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards 

relate to past and/or future service.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions 

with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Adjustments 

to non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a 

proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 

f. Foreign currency 

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and 

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 

of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available 

for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the 

security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes 

in amortised cost are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, and other changes in 

carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as available for sale, 

are included in other comprehensive income.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
f. Foreign currency (continued)
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Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable 
right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and 
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

h. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of purchase cost and net realisable value using the weighted average 
method after making allowance for any slow moving and obsolete items. Purchase cost includes the 
purchase price, import duties, transportation, handling and other direct costs except for borrowing costs. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated selling costs.

i. Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes the purchase price and directly associated costs of bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated based on the estimated useful lives of the applicable assets (note 4) on a straight-
line basis commencing when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

Property and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of 
the asset and the lease term.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on prospective basis. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repair and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

j. Leases

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to 
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position. 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less from the date of placement less bank overdrafts. The call deposits are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in their fair value and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments.

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for 
sale or are not classified in any of other categories of financial assets. Available for sale financial assets 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than 
impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss 
accumulated in the consolidated statement of changes in equity is reclassified to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

Available for sale financial assets comprise of equity securities and debt securities.

ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are 
originated. All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at the trade date, which is the date that the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise of trade and other payables, term debts and other non-current liabilities. 

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 
year or less from the financial position date (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), 
otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
g. Financial instruments (continued)
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l. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for site restoration is assessed at each reporting date as per the Group policy.

m. Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group’s shareholders. 

n. Impairment

i) Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset, and that loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 
be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers 
or issuers, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a 
security. In addition, for an investment in available for sale equity security, a significant or prolonged decline 
in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and 
receivables) at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for 
specific impairment.

Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has 
been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing 
of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current 
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested 
by historical trends.

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part 
of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and 
the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease 
term so as to produce a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. 
This will be the case if the following two criteria are met: 

•	the	fulfilment	of	the	arrangement	is	dependent	on	the	use	of	a	specific	asset	or	assets;	and	

•	the	arrangement	contains	a	right	to	use	the	asset(s).

At inception or on reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration 
required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their 
relative fair values. 

If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, 
then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. 
Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the liability is 
recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

k. Intangible assets

Identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired in connection with the business and 
from which future benefits are expected to flow are treated as intangible assets. Intangible assets consist of 
GSM license fees paid by the subsidiaries, brand name, customer relationships, concession arrangements 
and goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Intangible assets with definite useful lives are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

The GSM license fee, brand name, customer relationships and concession intangible assets are being 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation method 
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Goodwill is not amortised, but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed. On 
disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of Goodwill is included in the determination of the profit 
or loss on disposal.

Amortization is calculated based on the estimated useful lives of the applicable intangible assets on a 
straight-line basis (note 5).

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
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An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

o. Term debt

Term debt is recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Term debt is subsequently 
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the debt using the 
effective interest method.

p. Provision for staff indemnity

The provision for staff indemnity is payable on completion of employment. The provision is calculated in 
accordance with applicable labour law based on employees’ salaries and accumulated periods of service 
or on the basis of employment contracts, where such contracts provide extra benefits. With respect to its 
Kuwaiti employees, the Group makes contributions to Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are 
expensed when due. The Group expects this method to produce a reliable approximation of the present 
value of the obligations.

q. Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Company’s own shares that have been issued, subsequently reacquired 
and not yet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under the 
cost method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. When treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a 
separate account in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, which is not distributable. 

Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. 
Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to reserves. Gains realised subsequently on 
the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, 
retained earnings and the gain on sale of treasury shares account. No cash dividends are paid on these 
shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the 
average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

r. Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for communication services 
and equipment sales net of discounts and sales tax. Revenue from rendering of services and sale of 
equipment is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction shall 
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue and the associated costs can be reliably measured.

The Group principally obtains revenue from providing telecommunication services comprising access 
charges, airtime usage, messaging, interconnect fee, data services and infrastructure provision, connection 
fees, equipment sales and other related services.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss  
and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables.

Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Available for sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available for sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated 
in the fair value reserve in equity to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The cumulative loss that is reclassified from the consolidated statement of changes in equity to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Changes in cumulative impairment losses attributable to application of the 
effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair 
value of an impaired available for sale debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed, 
with the amount of the reversal recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. However, any 
subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available for sale equity security is recognised in the 
other comprehensive income.

ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds 
its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to the present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been 
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is allocated to groups at CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU 
(group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) 
on a pro-rata basis.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
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s. Customer loyalty program

The Company has implemented a customer loyalty program, whereby the subscribers may earn loyalty 
points that are redeemable in the form of discounts against the purchase price of handsets or credits for free 
service usage as well as vouchers to be utilised at third parties. The Company records the loyalty program 
in accordance with IFRIC 13 since the inception of the program, and therefore maintains a deferred 
revenue balance for the fair value of loyalty points earned and not yet redeemed.

Deferred revenue is released to revenue when loyalty points are redeemed or when it is no longer considered 
probable that the loyalty points will be redeemed.

t. Taxation

Certain subsidiaries are subject to taxes on income in various foreign jurisdictions. Income tax expense 
represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the financial position date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each financial position date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the financial position date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The specific revenue recognition criteria applied to significant elements of revenue is set out below:

Revenue from rendering of services

Revenue from access charges, airtime usage and messaging by contract customers is recognised as services 
are performed with unbilled revenue resulting from services already provided accrued at the end of each 
period and unearned revenue from services to be provided in future periods deferred.

Revenue arising from separable installation and connection services is recognised when it is earned. 
Subscription fee is recognised as revenue as the services are provided.

Interconnection, roaming and post-paid revenue

Revenue from interconnection and roaming services provided to other telecom operators, as well as post-
paid services provided to subscribers are generally billed on a monthly basis and are recognised based 
on actual usage, applying contractual rates, net of estimated discounts.

Sales of prepaid cards

Sale of prepaid cards is recognised as revenue based on the actual utilisation of the prepaid cards sold. 
Sales relating to unutilised prepaid cards are accounted for as deferred income. Deferred income related 
to unused prepaid cards is recognised as revenue when utilised by the customer or upon termination of the 
customer relationship.

Sales of equipment

Revenue from sales of peripheral and other equipment is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership are transferred to the buyer which is normally when the equipment is delivered and accepted 
by the customer.

Multiple element arrangements

Arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products and services are assessed to determine whether it 
is necessary to identify separate deliverables that should be recognised individually. Revenue related to the 
bundled contract is allocated to the different deliverables identified, based on their relative fair values. The 
Group generally determines the fair value of individual elements based on prices at which the deliverable 
is regularly sold on a standalone basis, after considering discounts where appropriate.

Other income

Other income represents income generated by the Group that arises from activities outside of the provision 
for communication services and equipment sales. Key components of other income are:

- Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using effective interest rate method.

- Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive dividend is established.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
r. Revenue recognition (continued)
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management 
has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of investments

On acquisition of an investment, the Group decides whether it should be classified as “financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss” or “available for sale”. The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying 
its investments. 

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This includes 
a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including 
Level 3 fair values.

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If the third party 
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team 
assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the 
requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Audit Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on inputs used in the 
valuation techniques (refer note 24).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair 
value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred.

u. Zakat, KFAS and NLST

Zakat, contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) and National Labour 
Support Tax (NLST) represent levies/taxes imposed on the Company at the flat percentage of net profits 
attributable to the Company less permitted deductions under the prevalent respective fiscal regulations of 
the State of Kuwait. 

Tax/statutory levy Rate

Contribution to KFAS 1.0% of net profit less permitted deductions

NLST 2.5% of net profit less permitted deductions

Zakat 1.0% of net profit less permitted deductions

v. Finance costs

Finance costs representing interest expense on interest-bearing financial liabilities are calculated on an 
accrual basis and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they 
are incurred.

w. Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

x. Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities that are expected to be recovered 
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before 
classification as held for sale, the assets or components of disposal groups are remeasured in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets, or disposal groups, are measured 
at the lower of their carrying value and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on disposal groups 
is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no 
loss is allocated to inventories and financial assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policies. 

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
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The input factors most sensitive to change are management estimates of future cash flows based on budgets, 
growth rates and discount rate. Further details on these assumptions are disclosed in note 5 along with the 
related sensitivities.

Impairment of receivables

The impairment charge reflects estimates of losses arising from the failure or inability of the parties concerned 
to make the required payments. 

At the date of financial position, gross trade and billing and other receivables were KD 138,200 thousand 
(2013: KD 135,866 thousand), and the allowance for doubtful debts was KD 46,213 thousand (2013: KD 
42,069 thousand). Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods and the amounts 
expected will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an 
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed 
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are 
assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or 
obsolescence, based on historical selling prices. As at the reporting date, gross inventory was KD 35,396 
thousand (2013: KD 27,373 thousand) and provision for obsolete inventory items was KD 558 thousand 
(2013: KD 324 thousand).

Deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the 
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

Were the actual final outcome (on the judgement areas) of expected cash flows to differ by 10% from 
management’s estimates, the Group would need to increase the income tax liability by KD 2,089 thousand 
(2013: KD 2,529 thousand) and the deferred tax liability by KD 122 thousand (2013: KD 69 thousand) if 
unfavorable or decrease the income tax liability by KD 2,089 thousand (2013: KD 2,529 thousand) and the 
deferred tax liability by KD 122 thousand (2013: KD 69 thousand), if favorable.

Impairment of investments

The Group treats available for sale financial assets as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires 
judgement. In addition, the Group also evaluates among other factors, normal volatility in the share price 
for quoted investments and the future cash flows and discount factors for unquoted investments. The Group 
has not recorded any impairment loss on value of available for sale financial assets during the year ended  
31 December 2014 (2013: impairment loss of KD 6 thousand) (see note 6).

The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of unquoted equity investments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly 
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. The Group uses different valuation 
techniques for various available for sale financial assets that are not traded in active markets.

Impairment of non-financial assets and useful lives

The Group’s management tests annually whether non-financial assets have suffered impairment in accordance 
with the accounting policies stated in note 2. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on 
value-in-use method. This method uses estimated cash flow projections over the estimated useful life of the asset 
discounted using market rates.

The Group’s management determines the useful lives and the related depreciation and amortisation charge. 

The depreciation and amortisation charge for the year will change significantly if actual life is different from the 
estimated useful life of the asset.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value.

The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 10 years and do not include restructuring activities 
that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset base of the  
cash-generating unit being tested, but do include the Group’s expectation of future capital expenditure 
necessary to maintain the Group’s existing operations.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
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Property and equipment of Ooredoo Tunisie SA and Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecom Limited (WPT) totalling 
to KD 147,148 thousand are under registered mortgage to secure certain bank loans (2013: Wataniya 
Telecom Algerie S.P.A, Ooredoo Maldives Private Limited and Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecom Limited 
totalling to KD 367,375 thousand) (note 12).

Certain assets classified under leasehold land, furniture, fixtures and others amounting to KD 500 thousand 
(2013: KD 608 thousand) were acquired under finance lease agreements for which the current portion of the 
respective obligations amounting to KD 296 thousand (2013: KD 285 thousand) is included under trade and 
other payables and the non-current portion from 1 to 5 years amounting to KD 204 thousand (2013: KD 323 
thousand) is included under non-current liabilities.

4. Property and equipment

Network 
equipment

Network 
infrastructure

Office & 
computer 

equipment

Lease 
hold land, 

furniture, 
fixtures 

and 
others

Capital 
work-in 

progress Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 599,456 235,907 33,387 28,479 116,317 1,013,546
Transfers 87,379 1,470 1,510 363 )89,625( 1,097
Additions 82,645 21,688 4,432 7,388 166,708 282,861
Disposals )68,680( )2,928( )143( )1,503( )232( )73,486(
Write off )34,065( - - - - )34,065(
Reclassification to assets held for 
sale (note 10) )1,841( - )186( )657( - )2,684(
Currency translation effects )9,626( 2,318 )344( 49 )895( )8,498(
Balance at 31 December 2013 655,268 258,455 38,656 34,119 192,273 1,178,771
Transfers 48,392 33,124 2,177 6,114 )91,826( )2,019(
Additions 112,548 35,329 7,614 6,509 3,293 165,293

Disposals )10,041( )490( )385( )2,698( )12( )13,626(
Currency translation effects )24,254( )15,478( )2,326( )1,748( )9,741( )53,547(
Balance at 31 December 2014 781,913 310,940 45,736 42,296 93,987 1,274,872

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

Balance at 1 January 2013 344,333 101,184 24,226 19,290 - 489,033
Transfers 253 )253( - - - -
Charge for the year 64,153 24,074 5,443 3,338 - 97,008
Related to disposals )52,071( )1,577( )118( )1,473( - )55,239(
Related to assets written off )24,628( - - - - )24,628(
Reclassification to assets held for 
sale (note 10) )1,543( - )162( )595( - )2,300(
Currency translation effects )5,773( 1,073 )221( 88 - )4,833(
Balance at 31 December 2013 324,724 124,501 29,168 20,648 - 499,041
Transfers )147( 102 12 42 - 9

Charge for the year 73,659 29,461 6,305 4,525 - 113,950

Related to disposals )9,257( )318( )373( )2,106( - )12,054(
Currency translation effects )10,731( )9,549( )1,819( )1,145( - )23,244(
Balance at 31 December 2014 378,248 144,197 33,293 21,964 - 577,702

Carrying amounts:

At 31 December 2013 330,544 133,954 9,488 13,471 192,273 679,730
At 31 December 2014 403,665 166,743 12,443 20,332 93,987 697,170

Annual depreciation rates 12.5%-16.67% 5% - 15% 33.33% 12.5%

4. Property and equipment (continued)

6564



Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Goodwill is allocated to one of the Group’s cash generating units (CGU) which is the Group’s 75% owned 
subsidiary, Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded its carrying amount 
by KD 3,874 thousand (2013: KD 69,021 thousand). The recoverable amount of this CGU was based on its 
value in use, estimated by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

2014
%

2013
%

Discount rate 11.05 11
Terminal growth rate 2.75 2.75
Projected EBITDA growth rate (average of next ten years) 3.84 3.61

The discount rate was a post-tax measure estimated based on the historical industry average weighted-average 
cost of capital, with a projected debt leveraging of 25% at a market interest rate of 2%.

The cash flow projections included specific estimates for three years, as approved by the Board of Directors 
of the CGU, and management extrapolation thereafter. The terminal growth rate was determined based on 
management’s estimate of the long-term growth in the sector, consistent with the assumptions that a market 
participant would make. Projected EBITDA was assumed by management using historical profitability margins 
and the projected growth in revenue based on the standard model prepared on a 10-year time period.

If the estimated discount rate for this CGU had been 0.5% higher than management’s estimates (for example, 
11.55% instead of 11.05%), the recoverable amount of the CGU will be lower by KD 25,447 thousands 
(2013: lower by KD 30,578 thousand), resulting in impairment loss.

Intangible assets of Ooredoo Tunisie SA amounting to KD 46,068 thousand are pledged as a security for 
certain bank loans (note 12).

6. Available for sale financial assets 

2014 2013
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Listed equity securities 328 1,001
Unlisted equity securities 6,722 7,690

7,050 8,691

Movement in available for sale financial assets is as follows:

2014 2013
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at beginning of the year 8,691 9,223
Additions 71 1,159
Disposals (1,007) (2,384)
Impairment loss on value of financial assets - (6)
Net unrealised (loss) / gain (705) 699
Balance at end of the year 7,050 8,691

5. Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill

Concession 
intangible 

assets

License 
and other 
intangible 

assets
Brand 
names Total

KD 
000’s

KD 
000’s

KD
 000’s

KD 
000’s

KD
 000’s

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 291,179 61,205 444,779 14,632 811,795

Transfers - - )1,097( - )1,097(
Disposals - )79( - - )79(
Additions - 382 29,059 - 29,441

Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 
10) - )61,722( )3,833( - )65,555(
Currency translation effects )16,037( 214 )7,868( )806( )24,497(
Balance at 31 December 2013 275,142 - 461,040 13,826 750,008

Transfers - - 2,019 - 2,019

Additions - - 6,103 - 6,103

Currency translation effects )23,609( - )29,266( )1,187( )54,062(
Balance at 31 December 2014 251,533 - 439,896 12,639 704,068

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2013 - 48,978 128,505 4,877 182,360

Related to disposals - )52( )3( - )55(
Charge for the year - 6,246 30,603 2,356 39,205

Provision for impairment 132 - - - 132

Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 
10) - )55,257( )2,295( - )57,552(
Currency translation effects 3 85 2,376 )320( 2,144

Balance at 31 December 2013 135 - 159,186 6,913 166,234

Transfers - - )9( - )9(
Charge for the year - - 29,642 2,255 31,897

Currency translation effects )11( - )11,258( )742( )12,011(
Balance at 31 December 2014 124 - 177,561 8,426 186,111

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2013 275,007 - 301,854 6,913 583,774

At 31 December 2014 251,409 - 262,335 4,213 517,957

Amortisation rate - 6.67% 4% to 30% 16.67%

5. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
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Add:
Unutilised tax gains brought forward 6,307 4,716
Taxable profit of subsidiaries that are subject to corporate income tax 59,676 72,258
Current income tax charge at the effective income tax rate of 35% (2013: 35%) 20,887 25,290
Current income tax charge 20,887 25,290

Deferred tax 

The deferred tax assets of KD 2,649 thousand as at 31 December 2014 (2013: KD 1,567 thousand) are 
recognised on account of accumulated tax losses incurred by the subsidiaries, Ooredoo Maldives Private Limited 
and Ooredoo Tunisie S.A., which are expected to be deductible against taxable profits in the foreseeable future.

Movement in deferred tax assets during the year:

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Opening balance 1,567 2,394

Charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 1,220 (689)

Foreign exchange differences (138) (138)

Closing balance 2,649 1,567

8. Trade and other receivables

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Trade and billing receivables 118,655 119,136

Unbilled revenue 5,157 5,668

Advances and prepayments 100,615 69,265

Interest receivable 750 704

Other receivables 19,545 16,730

244,722 211,503

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (46,213) (42,069)

198,509 169,434

Advances and prepayments include advance payments to suppliers amounting to KD 81,567 thousand  
(2013: KD 67,108 thousand).

At 31 December 2014, unlisted equity investments with a net amount of KD 2,178 thousand  
(2013: KD 2,107 thousand) are carried at cost less impairment due to the non-availability of quoted market 
prices or other reliable measures of their fair value. Management believes that the carrying value of these equity 
investments approximates their fair value.

At 31 December 2014, available for sale financial assets amounting to KD 6,871 thousand (2013: KD 8,658 
thousand), KD 23 thousand (2013: KD 33 thousand) and KD 156 thousand (2013: nil) are denominated in 
Kuwaiti Dinars, US Dollars and Tunisian Dinars respectively.

7. Taxation relating to subsidiaries

The income tax represents amounts recognised by subsidiary companies.

The major components of the income tax expense are as follows:

2014 2013
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Current tax
Current income tax charge 20,887 25,290

Deferred tax
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,220) 689

Income tax included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 19,667 25,979

The Company is not subject to income tax in the state of Kuwait. The effective tax rate applicable to the taxable 
subsidiary companies is 35% (2013: 35%). For the purpose of determining the taxable results for the year, the 
accounting profit of the subsidiaries is adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes included items 
relating to both income and expense. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing 
laws, regulations and practices of each subsidiaries jurisdiction. In view of the operations of the Group being 
subject to various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical to provide a detailed reconciliation between 
accounting and taxable profits together with the details of the effective tax rates. As a result, the reconciliation 
includes only the identifiable major reconciling items.

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the Group’s effective 
tax rate is as follows:

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Accounting consolidated profit before tax 76,060 126,631
Company and its subsidiaries that are not subject to corporate income tax )32,505( )63,261(
Accounting profit of subsidiaries that are subject to corporate income tax 43,555 63,370
Add:
Allowances, accruals and other temporary differences 1,231 )73(
Expenses and income that are not subject to corporate tax 8,583 4,245

7. Taxation relating to subsidiaries (continued)6. Available for sale financial assets (continued)
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10. Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale

During 2013, the management of the Group committed to a plan to sell all the equity interest in Public 
Telecommunications Company Ltd. (PTC) and the final negotiations for the sale were in progress during the 
previous year. As a result, PTC has been reclassified as a disposal group held for sale and disclosed as a 
discontinued operation as per IFRS 5: Non-Current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The 
results of PTC for 2013 are presented below:

2013

KD 000’s

Revenue 18,071
Cost of revenue )2,879(

15,192
Network construction revenue 385
Network construction costs )385(

15,192

Administrative expenses )5,714(
Selling and distribution costs )2,032(
Net finance costs 4
Depreciation and amortisation )6,821(
Other income 734
Profit before Zakat 1,363
Zakat )612(
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 751

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) – discontinued operations 1.49

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

2014 2013
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Balance at beginning of the year 42,069 39,912
Charge for the year (included under selling and distribution costs) 8,225 10,039
Amounts written off as uncollectible (3,130) (762)
Reclassification to assets classified held for sale (note 10) - (7,101)
Amounts recovered during the year (included under selling and distribution costs) - (11)
Foreign exchange differences (951) (8)
Balance at end of the year 46,213 42,069

Ageing of unimpaired trade receivables is as follows:

Past due not impaired

Total

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired < 30 days
30 – 60 

days
60 – 90 

days > 90 days

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

2014 72,442 34,619 9,475 4,663 6,378 17,307

2013 77,067 38,304 10,684 7,017 6,559 14,503

The estimated fair value of trade receivables at the reporting date is not significantly different from their 
carrying value.

9. Bank balances and cash

2014 2013
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cash and bank balances 57,444 91,494
Deposits 31,955 50,208
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position 89,399 141,702
Deposits with original maturities of three months or more (7,042) (19,305)
Bank balances and cash reclassified as assets of disposal group classified as 
held for sale - 15,472
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 82,357 137,869

The effective interest rate on interest-earning deposits ranged from 1.75% to 7.5% (2013: 1.66% to 8.6%) 
per annum. Cash and bank balances include KD 32 thousand (2013: KD 1,543 thousand) held as part of  
a managed portfolio.

Included in deposits with original maturities of three months or more is an amount of KD 7 thousand  
(2013: KD 13,785 thousand) restricted in accordance with subsidiary’s syndicated loan agreement (refer 
to note 12).

8. Trade and other receivables (continued)
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11. Equity

a. Share capital

The authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital as at 31 December 2014 consists of  
504,033 thousand shares (2013: 504,033 thousand shares) of 100 fils each contributed in cash.

b. Treasury shares

2014 2013

Number of shares (000’s) 2,871 2,871

Percentage of issued shares 0.57% 0.57%

Cost (KD 000’s) 3,598 3,598

Market value (KD 000’s) 4,019 5,053

c. Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, and its Executive Regulations, 
and the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the 
Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to a statutory 
reserve until the reserve reaches a minimum of 50% of the paid up share capital. This reserve is not 
available for distribution except for the amount in excess of 50% of share capital or payment of a dividend 
of 5% of paid up share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of such 
dividends. The Company has discontinued further transfers to statutory reserve as it has exceeded 50% of 
the authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital.

d. General reserve

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of profit for the year attributable to 
shareholders of the Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ remuneration is required to be 
transferred to the general reserve until the shareholders decide to discontinue the transfer to the general 
reserve. During the current year, an amount of KD 4,838 thousand has been transferred to general reserve 
(2013: KD 7,965 thousand).

e. Proposed dividends

The Board of Directors proposed a cash dividend of 70 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 
2014 (2013: 125 fils per share). This proposal is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the Annual 
General Assembly and has not been accounted for in these consolidated financial statements.

The Annual General Assembly of the Company, held on 25 March 2014, approved the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the payment of cash 
dividend of 125 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: cash dividend of 125 fils 
per share) to the Company’s shareholders existing as at 25 March 2014.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of PTC classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2013 were as 
follows:

2013

KD 000’s

Assets

Property and equipment 384

Intangible assets 8,003

Inventories 468

Trade and other receivables 4,743

Cash and bank balances 15,472

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 29,070

Liabilities

Provision for staff indemnity 1,039

Other non-current liabilities 3,132

Trade and other payables 32,943

Deferred income 1,655

Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 38,769

Net liabilities directly associated with disposal group 9,699

The net cash flows generated by PTC during the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows:

2013

KD 000’s

Operating 9,984

Investing (483)

Financing -

Net cash inflow 9,501

The settlement agreement addendum was signed on 20 January 2014 and the legal formalities relating to the 
transfer of shares have been completed.

Subsequent to reaching a sale agreement and for the purpose of concluding the sale, the buyer waived certain 
liabilities due from PTC amounting to KD 13,970 thousand resulting in an increase in PTC’s net assets at the 
date of disposal to KD 4,312 thousand. Additionally, a consideration of KD 6,044 thousand was paid to the 
buyer by the Group as part of the settlement agreement. Accordingly, the disposal transaction, after considering 
the waiver of liabilities, the results up to the date of disposal as well as the consideration paid by the Group, 
has resulted in a gain of KD 3,628 thousand.

10. Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale (continued)
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d. The loan bears floating interest rate indexed to the average monthly monetary 
rate published by the Central Bank of Tunisia plus 1.1% to 1.5% margin 
(2013 Central Bank of Tunisia plus 1.1%). The installments of principal 
and interest are payable quarterly, the first installment in principal will be 
paid December 2015, the first installment in interest is scheduled for March 
31, 2015, the last installment is payable September 30, 2019. The loan 
arrangements contain financial covenants to be tested on an annual basis, 
including the Net Debt to EBITDA ratio and the Debt Service Coverage 
ratio, as defined in the agreements. In addition, the lenders may declare 
the loans repayable in full upon failure to comply with various positive and 
negative covenants, change in control, revocation or adverse modification 
of the GSM license, prolonged suspension of the network operation, and 
other materially adverse events. Ooredoo Tunisie tangible and intangible 
assets (“fonds de commerce”), inclusive of equipment, intellectual property 
rights and other unrecognised intangible assets used in the operation of the 
business, but exclusive of the GSM licence, have been pledged as security 
for the loan agreements, for an aggregate amount of TND 335 million as 
at 31 December 2014. 48,282 37,780

e. The loans bear an interest rates of 3 month US$ LIBOR + 2% per annum 
and an interest rate of over night US$ LIBOR + 5.5% & US$ 6% per 
annum. The loans are repayable within 10 quarterly installments and 30 
equal monthly installments respectively with accrued interest. The facility 
is secured by Ooredoo Maldives Private Limited (“OMPL” previously 
“WTM”s) fixed deposits. 2,899 1,571

179,934 145,078

12. Long term debt

Current Non-current

2014 2013 2014 2013

 KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Due to local banks 39,100 - - 18,000

Due to local banks related to subsidiaries 77,121 47,717 54,747 70,229

Due to foreign banks 1,319 508 7,647 8,624

117,540 48,225 62,394 96,853

The details of long term debts are as follows:

Description
2014

KD 000’s
2013

KD 000’s

a. The loans bear interest rates of 5% per annum and LIBOR plus 3% per annum 
(2013: 5% per annum and LIBOR plus 3% per annum). The repayment term 
is made in installments varying over a period from December 2005 up to 
December 2017. These loans are not secured by any pledge by Wataniya 
Telecom Algerie S.P.A. (“WTA”), but are subject to various obligations and 
financial covenants over the term of those debts. 66,751 64,656

b. The loans bear annual interest rates ranging from LIBOR plus 5% to 5.85% 
per annum (2013: LIBOR plus 5% to 6.34% per annum) and are repayable 
in semi annual installments commencing 15 January 2011 and ending 15 
January 2016. These loans are secured by Wataniya Palestine Mobile 
Telecom Limited (“WPT”)’s assets. 22,902 23,071

c. The loans bear annual interest rates of 1% per annum over the Central Bank 
of Kuwait discount rate (2013:1% to 2% per annum over the Central Bank 
of Kuwait discount rate). These loans are partially secured by promissory 
notes signed by the Company as a guarantee for the loan. The outstanding 
balance as at 31 December 2013 has been fully settled. 39,100 18,000

12. Long term debt (continued)
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16. Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Significant subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Country of 
operation

Voting 
capital held

Voting capital 
held

2014 2013

Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A. (WTA) Algeria 71% 71%

Wataniya International FZ – L.L.C. (WTI) U.A.E 100% 100%

Ooredoo Maldives Private Limited (subsidiary of  WTI) Maldives 100% 100%

WARF Telecom International Private Limited (WARF) (subsidiary of 
WTM) Maldives 65% 65%

Public Telecommunication Company Ltd. (PTC) (subsidiary of 
WTI)* Saudi Arabia - 100%

Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecom Limited (WPT) (subsidiary of 
WTI) Palestine 48.45% 48.45%

Al-Bahar United General Trading and Contracting Company 
WL.L. Kuwait 99% 99%

Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. Tunisia 75% 75%

Carthage Consortium Ltd Malta 100% 100%

Qtel Tunisia Holding Company Ltd Malta 100% 100%

* Public Telecommunications Company Ltd. were reclassified as held for sale during the previous year and sold 
during the year (note 10).

13. Trade and other payables

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Accruals 234,961 272,151

Trade payables 105,503 85,931

Amounts due to related parties (note 19) 33,065 39,230

Other tax payable 20,114 17,687

Staff payable 13,266 10,320

Dividends payable 14,245 15,139

Other payables 26,237 24,034

447,391 464,492

The Group has sound financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within 
the specified credit time frame (note 22).

14. Finance costs - net

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Finance income 1,543 2,210

Finance costs (9,238) (7,600)

(7,695) (5,390)

15. Other expenses - net

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Gain on upgrade of network equipment - 9,437

Write off of network equipment - (9,437)

Dividend income 1 62

Exchange (loss) / gain (8,215) 2,677

Other operating income / (expense) 8,057 (8,414)

(Loss) / gain on sale of available for sale financial assets (26) 117

(183) (5,558)

As of 31 December 2014, other operating income / (expense) include provision no longer required amounting 
to KD 8,907 (2013: Nil).
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WTA WPT
Ooredoo

Tunisie S.A.

31 December 2013 KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Non-current assets 405,793 61,518 196,037

Current assets 136,008 16,560 62,553

Non-current liabilities )108,489( )36,167( )35,463(
Current liabilities )251,090( )16,128( )111,850(
Net assets 182,222 25,783 111,277

Carrying amount of NCI 52,845 13,291 27,819

Revenue 302,738 25,326 195,203

Profit / (loss) 57,171 )6,055( 37,358

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 57,171 )6,055( 37,358

Profit / (loss) allocated to NCI 16,580 )3,121( 9,339

Cash flows from operating activities 148,263 5,810 68,282

Cash flows used in investing activities )156,001( )4,654( )46,236(
Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 4,556 )1,802( )47,695(
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents )3,182( )646( )25,649(

17. Provision for contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

KFAS 506 516

NLST 1,109 1,657

Zakat 443 664

2,058 2,837

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material 
non-controlling interests (NCI), before any intra-group eliminations:

WTA WPT
Ooredoo

Tunisie S.A.

31 December 2014 KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Non-current assets 406,823 61,628 177,443

Current assets 159,550 16,428 66,240

Non-current liabilities )94,492( )34,927( )40,770(
Current liabilities )288,082( )21,195( )115,314(
Net assets 183,799 21,934 87,599

Carrying amount of NCI 53,302 11,307 21,900

Revenue 361,317 24,277 178,722

Profit / (loss) 17,055 )4,721( 23,331

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 17,055 )4,721( 23,331

Profit / (loss) allocated to NCI 4,946 )2,434( 5,833

Cash flows from operating activities 78,976 5,849 55,670

Cash flows used in investing activities )93,293( )6,115( )32,303(
Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 8,332 )3,327( )20,238(
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents )5,985( )3,593( 3,129

16. Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)16. Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

7978



Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Year ended 31 December

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

b) Transactions included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within 
administrative expenses

Management fees due to Ooredoo Group L.L.C - fellow subsidiary 17,186 14,921

Brand License fees due to Ooredoo IP L.L.C - fellow subsidiary 55 -

c) Compensation of key management personnel

Short term benefits 3,645 3,559

Termination benefits 448 739

4,093 4,298

During the year, the Group has entered into transactions with related parties on substantially the same terms as 
those with other parties on an arm’s length basis.

20. Operating segments

Operating segments were identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, the Group Chief Financial Officer, in order to allocate 
resources to the segment and to its performance. 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting polices described 
in note 2. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without investment revenue, finance costs 
and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purpose of monitoring performance and allocating resources between segments:

•	Goodwill	 is	allocated	to	each	reportable	segment	as	applicable.	There	are	no	assets	used	jointly	by	any	
reportable segment.

•	There	are	no	liabilities	for	which	any	segment	is	jointly	liable.

Although certain segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has 
concluded that these segments should be reported, as they are closely monitored as a potential growth region 
and are expected to materially contribute to Group revenue in the future.

The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from telecommunications services.

18. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the Company is computed by dividing the profit for the year 
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year less treasury shares as follows:

2014 2013

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company (KD 000’s) 45,718 76,095

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company – continuing 
operations (KD 000’s) 45,718 75,344

Number of shares outstanding

Weighted average number of paid up shares (000’s) 504,033 504,033

Weighted average number of treasury shares (000’s) )2,871( )2,871(
Weighted average number of outstanding shares (000’s) 501,162 501,162

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the 
Company (fils) 91 152

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of the 
Company – continuing operations (fils) 91 150

There are no potential dilutive shares as at 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).

19. Related party transactions

Related parties represent major shareholders, Directors and key management personnel of the Group and 
Ooredoo and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies 
and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions between the Company 
and its subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are 
not disclosed in this note. Transactions with related parties are as follows:

As at 31 December

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

a) Balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position

Payable to Ooredoo Group L.L.C - fellow subsidiary 32,464 39,126

Payable to ultimate parent company 547 104

Payable to Ooredoo IP L.L.C - fellow subsidiary 54 -

Amounts due to related parties (note 13) 33,065 39,230

19. Related party transactions (continued)
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Outside Kuwait

Inside Kuwait Tunisia Algeria Others Un-allocated Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

31 December 2013 

Segment revenues 194,926 195,203 302,738 38,250 - 731,117

Segment results 14,792 37,358 57,171 )7,196( )4,279( 97,846

Profit / (loss) 
from continuing 
operations 14,792 37,358 57,171 )7,947( )4,279( 97,095

Segment assets 271,729 256,937 541,801 147,001 384,614 1,602,082

Investments and 
other assets 8,606 1,652 - - - 10,258

Assets of disposal 
group classified as 
held for sale - - - 29,070 - 29,070

Total assets  280,335 258,589 541,801 176,071 384,614 1,641,410

Segment liabilities 168,728 109,532 196,033 45,492 - 519,785

Debt and other 
obligations 22,099 37,780 64,656 25,870 - 150,405

Liabilities of disposal 
group classified as 
held for sale - - - 38,769 - 38,769

Total liabilities 190,827 147,312 260,689 110,131 - 708,959

Other information
Impairment loss )6( )132( - - - )138(
Purchases of 
property and 
equipment 102,402 36,502 136,997 6,960 - 282,861

Purchases of 
intangible assets 660 3,072 24,217 1,492 - 29,441

Depreciation of 
property and 
equipment 25,282 24,339 39,937 7,450 - 97,008

Amortisation of 
intangible assets 201 11,519 12,710 10,496 4,279 39,205

Provision for staff 
indemnity 1,324 - - 622 - 1,946

Outside Kuwait

Inside Kuwait Tunisia Algeria Others Un-allocated Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

31 December 2014

Segment revenues 168,024 178,722 361,317 40,433 - 748,496

Segment results 14,959 23,331 17,055 480 )2,095( 53,730

Profit / (loss) 
from continuing 
operations 14,959 23,331 17,055 480 )2,095( 53,730

Segment assets 254,811 241,404 566,373 109,424 366,218 1,538,230

Investments and 
other assets 6,893 2,279 - 527 - 9,699

Total assets 261,704 243,683 566,373 109,951 366,218 1,547,929

Segment liabilities 160,422 81,311 202,660 64,635 - 509,028

Debt and other 
obligations 43,383 48,282 66,751 27,097 - 185,513

Total liabilities 203,805 129,593 269,411 91,732 - 694,541

Other information
Purchases of 
property and 
equipment 34,439 30,994 91,550 8,310 - 165,293

Purchases of 
intangible assets 404 1,206 3,949 544 - 6,103

Depreciation of 
property and 
equipment 28,427 25,568 53,385 6,570 - 113,950

Amortisation of 
intangible assets 292 11,415 14,197 3,898 2,095 31,897

Provision for staff 
indemnity 1,366 - 81 328 - 1,775

20. Operating segments (continued)20. Operating segments (continued)
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22. Financial instruments and risk management 

Strategy in using financial instruments

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under policies approved by 
the Board of Directors. Group treasury identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the 
Group’s operating units. 

The Board of Directors provide written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of non-derivative 
financial instrument, and investment of excess liquidity.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return.

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices.

i) Foreign currency exchange risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar, Tunisian Dinars and Algerian Dinars. Foreign exchange risk 
arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group manages the foreign currency exchange risk by diversifying its exposure to different currency rates.

The Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Equivalent Equivalent

US Dollar  (37,866)  (3,317)

Tunisian Dinar  (59,972)  (54,642)

Algerian Dinar  (194,349)  (188,402)

21. Commitments and contingent liabilities

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s 

a) Capital commitments

For the acquisition of property and equipment 79,860 87,164

For the acquisition of Palestinian mobile license 46,791 45,052

126,651 132,216

b) Operating lease commitments

The Group has a number of operating leases over properties for the erection of communication towers, office 
facilities and warehouses. The lease expenditure charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during 
the year is disclosed under cost of revenue. The leases typically run for a period ranging from 1 to 5 years, with 
an option to renew the lease after that date.

Minimum operating lease commitments under these leases are as follows:

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s 

Not later than one year 8,616 9,066

Later than one year but not later than five years 27,917 31,646

36,533 40,712

c) Contingent liabilities

Letters of guarantee 3,691 4,224

Letters of credit 3,753 -

7,444 4,224

The Ministry of Communications initiated unjust enrichment proceedings against the Company under Article 
262 of the Kuwaiti Civil Code, claiming unlawful use of the Ministry’s network infrastructure since 1999. During 
the year, the Kuwaiti Court of Appeal ruled in favour of the Ministry of Communication (the “MOC”) in its case 
against National Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. The decision was based on the claimed right 
of the Ministry to charge fees according to Kuwaiti Law for mobile services provided via the Company’s mobile 
network. The judgement was for an amount of KD 36.693 million in favor of the MOC. The appeal was filed 
in the Court of Cassation. The Court of Cassation accepted the request to stop the initiation of any actions 
against the Company. Subsequent to the reporting date, the Company won the case in the Court of Cassation.
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iii) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will fluctuate as a result of changes in the level of 
equity indices or the value of individual share prices. Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of 
listed equity investments.  The Group manages the risk through diversification of investments in terms of industry 
concentration. The effect of equity price risk on profit for the year of the Group is not significant as it has no 
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, except for effect of impairment 
in value of financial assets (if any). The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of equity 
investments held as available for sale financial assets) at the year end due to an assumed 15% change in market 
indices, with all other variables held constant, is not significant. 

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The 
Group’s exposure is continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread 
amongst approved counterparties. 

Trade and billing receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of trade receivables.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics.

i. Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying amount

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Bank balances 86,573 140,159

Trade and other receivables 97,894 100,170

184,467 240,329

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Group is maintaining exposure mainly to the US Dollar, Tunisian Dinar and Algerian Dinar. The following 
table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase in the KD against the other currencies (as a result of 
a change in the foreign currency) at the year end due to the assumed change in market rates, with all other 
variable held constant. A 10 % decrease in the KD against these currencies would have the opposite effect. A 
positive number indicates increase in profit for the year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ remunerations 
/ equity and a negative number indicates decrease in profit for the year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and 
Directors’ remuneration / equity.

2014 2013

Effect on 
profit

Effect on 
equity

Effect on 
profit

Effect on 
equity

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

US Dollar  3,787  3,787  332  332

Tunisian Dinar  5,997  5,997  5,464  5,464

Algerian Dinar  19,435  19,435  18,840  18,840

ii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from possible changes in financial instruments that may affect future profitability 
of the Group.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from term borrowings which are detailed in note 12. Borrowings issued at 
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable 
rates which is detailed in note 9.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit as well as equity to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates of 1% (2013: 1%) with effect from the beginning of the year. These changes are considered to 
be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. The calculations are based on the 
Group’s financial instruments held at each reporting date. A positive number below indicates an increase in 
profit / equity and a negative number indicates a decrease in profit/equity.

2014 2013

Effect on 
profit

Effect on 
equity

Effect on 
profit

Effect on 
equity

Increase KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

KD +1 (8) (8) (18) (18)

US Dollar +1 (12) (12) (14) (14)

Tunisian Dinar +1 (10) (10) (6) (6)

Algerian Dinar +1 (47) (47) (38) (38)

Sensitivity to interest rate movements will be on a symmetric basis.

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
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Rated Unrated

High Standard 

31 December 2014 grade grade Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Bank balances 78,524 8,049 - 86,573

Trade and other receivables - 43,251 16,820 60,071

Total 78,524 51,300  16,820  146,644

31 December 2013

Bank balances 128,368 9,551 - 137,919

Trade and other receivables - 44,212 17,194 61,406

Total 128,368  53,763 17,194  199,325

All the above financial assets are classified as “loans and receivables”.

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Group and aggregated by Group finance 
department. Group treasury department monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure 
it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits on any of its borrowing 
facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, compliance with internal 
financial position ratio targets and external regulatory or legal requirements. 

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above balance required for working capital management 
are transferred to the Group treasury. Group treasury invests surplus cash in interest bearing current accounts 
and time deposits, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient 
head-room as determined by the above-mentioned forecasts.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Carrying amount

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

Kuwait 53,076 97,189

Tunisia 59,659 56,579

Algeria 47,745 50,863

Maldives 11,679 8,621

Palestine 12,291 25,179

Other 17 1,898

184,467 240,329

The Group’s credit risk bearing assets can be analysed by the industry sector as follows:

2014 2013

KD 000’s KD 000’s

 Banks and other financial institutions 86,573 140,159

Others 97,894 100,170

Total 184,467 240,329

Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
historical information about counterparty default rates.

The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on the overdue trade and billing receivables. 

The Group has substantially provided for all receivables due for a period greater than 365 days as a result of 
historical experience. Trade and billing receivables between 30 days and 365 days are provided for based 
on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience. 

As of 31 December 2014, trade and billing receivables of KD 72,442 thousand (2013: KD 77,067 thousand) 
were fully performing.

Included in the Group’s trade and billing receivables balances are debtors with a carrying amount of 
KD 37,823 thousand (2013: KD 38,763 thousand) which are past due at the reporting date for which the 
Group has not provided for as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are 
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. 

The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired by class, grade and status.

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)
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23. Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, human error, systems failure 
or from external events. The Group has a set of policies and procedures, which are approved by the Board of 
Directors and are applied to identify, assess and supervise operational risk. The Group’s management ensures 
compliance with policies and procedures and monitors operational risk as part of overall risk management.

24. Fair value of financial instruments

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available for sale securities) 
is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held 
by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each reporting date.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

•	Level	 1	 fair	 value	measurements	 are	 those	 derived	 from	quoted	prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	markets	 for	
identical assets or liabilities;

•	Level	2	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•	Level	3	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	valuation	techniques	that	include	inputs	for	the	asset	
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2014
Level 1 Level 2 Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Available for sale financial assets
Listed equity securities 328 - 328
Unlisted equity securities - 4,544 4,544

328 4,544 4,872

2013
Level 1 Level 2 Total

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Available for sale financial assets
Listed equity securities 1,001 - 1,001
Unlisted equity securities - 5,583 5,583

1,001 5,583 6,584

At the reporting date, the Group held short term deposits of KD 24,913  thousand (2013: KD 30,903 
thousand) and other liquid assets of KD 297,826  thousand (2013: KD 307,282  thousand) that are expected 
to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. The following tables detail the Group’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash 
flows of financial liabilities.

2014 Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 

years

Between 
2 and 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s %

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 140,557 206,423 100,410 - 447,391
Long term debt 122,591 48,339 24,715 - 195,645 8.7%
Other non-current liabilities - 2,556 15,928 -  18,484

263,149 257,318 141,053 - 661,520
Commitments and contingencies
Acquisition of property and 
equipment 29,475 38,614 11,771 - 79,860
Acquisition of Palestinian mobile 
license - - - 46,791 46,791
Operating leases 8,616 6,700 21,217 - 36,533
Letters of credit and guarantee 6,744 324 376 - 7,444

44,835 45,638 33,364 46,791 170,628

2013 Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 

years

Between 
2 and 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s %

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 145,930 214,314 104,248 - 464,492
Long term debt 51,903 76,225 37,078 - 165,206 14%
Other non-current liabilities - 2,702 15,335 - 18,037

197,833 293,241 156,662 - 647,735
Commitments and contingencies
Acquisition of property and 
equipment 32,171 42,145 12,848 - 87,164
Acquisition of Palestinian mobile 
license - - - 45,052 45,052
Operating leases 9,066 7,533 24,113 - 40,712
Letters of credit and guarantee 3,751 473 - - 4,224

44,988 50,151 36,961 45,052 177,152

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk management (continued)
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There were no transfers between levels during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

Valuation techniques and assumptions for the purpose of measuring fair value

a) Listed securities

 All listed equity securities are publicly traded on a recognised stock exchange. Fair value has been determined 
by referring to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

b) Unlisted securities

 Unlisted securities are measured at fair value estimated using various models, which includes some assumptions 
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.

There are no transfers out of level 3 during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

24. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
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Kuwait
Ooredoo Kuwait
P.O. Box 613, Safat 13007 
Kuwait
Tel: +965 1 805 555
Fax: +965 2 242 3369
Website: ooredoo.com.kw

Tunisia
Ooredoo Tunisia 
P.O. Box 641 1053  
Tunis Cedex
Tel: +216 22 12 0000
Fax: +216 22 12 0009
Website: ooredoo.tn

Algeria
Ooredoo Algeria
P.O. Box 74 Cheraga, Algiers
Algeria
Tel: +213 554 50 1901
Fax: +213 554 50 1902
Website: ooredoo.dz

Maldives
Ooredoo Maldives 
P.O. Box 2196 Boduthakurufaanu 
Magu Male, Republic of Maldives
Tel: +960 961 1000
Fax: +960 961 1001
Website: ooredoo.mv

Palestine
Wataniya Mobile Palestine
P.O.Box 4236, Palestine
Tel: +970 (0) 56 800 2000*
Fax: +970 (0) 56 800 2999*
Website: wataniya.ps

*  For calls from outside the Gulf region, please replace the international code 970 with the code 972.
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